
CITY OF THOMASVILLE COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
Monday, May 16, 2022 – 6:00 P.M.  

7003 Ball Park Road, Thomasville, NC 27360  
Mayor Raleigh York, Jr. ~ Mayor Pro Tempore Lisa Shell 

1. Call to Order   

2. Additions and Deletions to the Agenda  

3. Recognitions and Presentations  

A. Recognition of Meritorious Service of Master Police Officers Jonathan Caldwell and 
Michael Vogler and Corporal Joseph Sutton 

B. Proclamation – National Public Works Week 
4. Public Forum – Please sign up in person to speak for two minutes on any topic. A two-

minute time limit will be enforced. 
 

5. Public Hearing – Request for Rezoning (Z-22-02) 
Applicant: Board of Planning & Adjustment 
Proposed Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance 
Appendix A – Zoning, Article V, Sec. 3A, Note 12, and  
Add Note 14. (Landscape buffer yard and screening requirements) 

6. Consent Agenda  
A. Approval of Minutes of the Briefing Meeting on 04/11/22 
B. Approval of Minutes of the Council Meeting on 04/18/22  
C. Consideration of Grant Project Ordinance: One NC Fund Grant – BrassCraft Mfg. 
D. Consideration of Grant Project Ordinance: NC Dept. of Commerce Grant – Nucor 

Steel 
E. Consideration of Grant Project Ordinance: Golden LEAF Foundation – Nucor Steel 
F. Consideration of Amendment to Rules and Procedures Manual Giving the Mayor 

Authority to Amend the Mayor Pro Tempore of the Month  
7. Regular Agenda  

A. Budget Message by the City Manager 
B. Consideration of Ordinance to Enact Chapter 70, Article VI: Social District  
C. Consideration of Ordinance to Enact Chapter 70, Article VII: Sidewalk Dining 
D. Consideration of Grant Project Ordinance: ARPA Funds  

E. Consideration of Budget Amendment for the General Fund; Water/Sewer Utility 
Fund; School Fund; and Golf Fund. 

F. Consideration of Amendment to Personnel Policy to Add 3 New Positions: Police 
Trainee, Police Records Supervisor and Downtown Economic Development Director 

G. Consideration of Express Cab Taxi Franchise 
 

8. Committee Reports and Appointments, Mayor’s Report and Appointments, City 
Manager’s Report, City Attorney’s Report  

 

9. Closed Session – Attorney/Client 

10. Additional Items  

11. Adjournment   

001



002



003



004



005



006



007



008



009



010



011



012



013



014



015



016



017



018



019



020



021



022



023



024



025



026



027



028



029



030



031



032



033



034



035



036



037



038



039



040



041



042



043



044



045



046



047



048



049



050



051



052



053



054



055



056



057



058



059



060



061



062



063



 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Budget Message from the City Manager 
 

May 16, 2022 
 

The Honorable Raleigh York, Jr, Mayor 
Members of the City Council 
Citizens of Thomasville 
Thomasville, North Carolina 
 

Dear Mayor York and City Council: 
 

It is my pleasure to formally present the City of Thomasville’s recommended Fiscal 
Year 2022-2023 Budget for your review and consideration. The document serves as a 
resource allocation plan that meets the requirements of Section 159-11 of the North 
Carolina General Statutes by being balanced and prepared under the principles and 
rules of the Local Government Budget & Fiscal Control Act and the City’s Fiscal Policy 
currently in effect. 
 

The budget presented is balanced in the amount of $48,444,175. It is allocated as 
follows: 
 

General Fund $30,758,777 
Water/Sewer Enterprise Fund $14,514,968 
Winding Creek Golf Course Fund $989,175 
Storm Water Management Fund $103,380 
General Capital Reserve Fund $0 
Water/Sewer Capital Reserve Fund $0 
School Fund $1,918,375 
Police Restitution & Forfeitures Fund $100,400 
Beautification Fund $45,100 
Cemetery Fund $14,000 
Reservoir Fund $0 
Total $48,444,175 

 
 

10 Salem Street 
Thomasville, North Carolina 27360 

(336) 475-4210 • www.Thomasville-NC.gov 
Office of City Manager 

064



2 
 

The proposed tax rate is $0.62 per $100 of assessed valuation, the same as last year.  
The proposed budget has been filed with the City Clerk for public viewing. In addition, 
a budget summary is available on the City’s website at www.Thomasville-NC.gov. 
 

BUDGET PROCESS 
The budget process began in October of last year, with staff developing their proposed 
capital purchases of equipment and facility improvements. This was then integrated 
into a citywide Capital Improvement Plan that was reviewed and approved by City 
Council.  
In January, the City Council held a two-day retreat to establish priorities and discuss 
issues facing the community. 
This was followed-up by the City Manager with meetings with Department Managers 
that outlined the goals of the Council and established the Manager’s intent to focus on 
the following areas: 

 How do we Serve the Community through the department (customer focused); 
 How do we Run the Operations efficiently and effectively (internal business 

processes); 
 How do we Manage our Resources to ensure that our infrastructure is being 

maintained while preserving and enhancing our financial position (finance); 
and, 

 How do we Develop our Personnel through informal and formal training 
opportunities (learning and growth). 

 

KEY HIGHLIGHTS 
There is no proposed property tax increase this year, keeping it unchanged at $0.62 
per hundred dollars of valuation. The City school tax remains unchanged at $0.195 
per one hundred dollars of property valuation. 
At the direction of City Council, the budget proposes a $5 increase in the annual 
Vehicle Tax ($10 total) to be allocated for public transportation and additional funds 
for street maintenance.  
The proposed budget recommends an average water/sewer utility rate increase of 
5.75% based upon the new 2022 rate study recommendations. 
 
PROJECTS AND INITIATIVES 

 Continue construction of the new Aquatic Center to replace Memorial Park 
Pool. 

 Implement the recommendations of the 2022 pavement condition analysis for 
improving City streets and sidewalks. 

 Continue water/sewer infrastructure projects. 

065



3 
 

 Implement projects funded through the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) to 
improve community facilities, support community and economic development 
opportunities and support non-profit organizations in the community. 

 
PERSONNEL 
Employees are the lifeblood of the City, providing all of the essential services necessary 
for the community. A well-trained and qualified workforce is critical to developing and 
maintaining a high quality of life for the citizens of Thomasville. The City Council 
expressed concerns about the increased costs of living, and the low salaries within the 
City pay plan. The Council directed the City Manager to develop a plan that would 
address these concerns. 

 The budget recommends a modified COLA increase of 2% for employees whose 
salaries are over $40,000 and an annual increase of $800 for those making less 
than $40,000. The $800 amounts to a 2-3% COLA increase for 29% of the City 
workforce.  

 Employer-provided employee health insurance premiums are increasing 4%. 
 Employer-provided contribution to the Local Government Employees 

Retirement System (LGERS) is increasing 0.75% to 12.16% for General & 
Firefighter Class; and a 0.94% increase to 13.04% for Law Enforcement Class. 

 Four new full time positions are proposed: A Citywide Risk Manager and Police 
Officer in the General Fund; an Assistant Superintendent of 
Maintenance/Construction in the Water/Sewer Utility Fund; and a 
Groundskeeper in the Golf Fund. 

 
RECOMMENDED CAPITAL FOR VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT – GENERAL FUND 

 (5) Vehicles (Police Dept.) 
 (5) Cameras and Equipment (Police Dept.) 
 (1) Fire Engine Apparatus (Fire Dept.) 
 (1) Backhoe (Public Works Dept.) 
 (1) Compact Mini Excavator (Public Works Dept.) 
 (1) Rear Load Garbage Truck (Public Works Dept.) 
 (1) Leaf Truck (Public Works Dept.) 
 (1) Pick-up Truck (Public Works Dept.) 
 (1) Utility Vehicle (P&R Dept.) 
 

VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT – WATER & SEWER FUND 
 (1) Pick-up Truck (Meter Services Dept.) 
 (2) Pick-up Trucks (Maint./Const. Dept.) 

066



4 
 

 (1) Excavator (Maint./Const. Dept.) 
 (1) Small Dump Truck (Maint./Const. Dept.) 
 (1) UV System (Wastewater Treat. Plant) 
 (1) Pick-up Truck (Wastewater Treat. Plant) 

 
WINDING CREEK GOLF COURSE FUND 

 Resurfacing Golf Cart Paths  
 

BUDGET OVERVIEW 
Major Funds 
The budget includes three major operating funds.  
The largest is the General Fund, which includes Public Safety (Police & Fire), Public 
Works, Recreation, Planning & Inspections, Engineering, MIS, Finance, Human 
Resources, and Administration.  
The City also has two enterprise funds, which are self-supporting government funds 
that sell goods and services to the public for a fee.  
The Water & Sewer Utility Enterprise Fund includes the Water Plant (raw water 
pumping station and three elevated storage tanks and one booster pumping station), 
Waste Water Treatment Plant, 31 sewer pumping stations, Meter Services, Billing and 
Collections, and the Maintenance and Construction division which maintains all water 
and sewer lines throughout the City.  
The third Major Fund is the Winding Creek Golf Course Enterprise Fund.  
Winding Creek is an 18-hole municipal golf course with a driving range and clubhouse 
that provides a local, affordable, recreational activity for the community. The budget 
message will focus most on these three funds. 
Minor Funds 
The budget also includes minor funds for specific purposes, including the Storm 
Water Management Fund, School Fund, Police Restitution & Forfeitures Fund, General 
Capital Reserve Fund, Sewer & Water Utility Capital Reserve Fund, Beautification 
Fund, Cemetery Fund, and Reservoir Fund. 
 

GENERAL FUND 
Revenues 
 
Ad Valorem Property Tax & Annual Vehicle Tax 
Ad Valorem Property Tax revenue is one of the few sources of revenue completely 
controlled by the City. Only the City Council has the authority to establish a property 
tax rate, and no other governmental unit may appropriate the funds for their own use. 

067



5 
 

It includes real property, personal property (including machinery and equipment), 
vehicles, and public utilities such as gas or electric companies. 
Davidson County collects the tax on behalf of Thomasville as part of an inter-local 
agreement.  
Property taxes make up 47% of General Fund revenue and are estimated at 
$14,377,329, based on $.62 per $100 valuation with a property tax collection rate of 
98.29%. The total taxable valuation of all property in the City of Thomasville is 
$2,157,890,699. 
 
Sales and Use Tax 
All 100 counties levy Article 39, 40, and 42 local option taxes, which are distributed 
monthly. Sales taxes are distributed from the State to the municipalities. Sales taxes 
have continued to be strong, which can be partially attributed to increased internet 
sales due to the effect of the pandemic. Sales taxes make up 26.5% of the General 
Fund revenues or $8,170,666. 
 
Utility Franchise Tax 
Utilities that do business within Thomasville pay a franchise tax to the State that is 
distributed to the City on a quarterly basis. The budget projects a 7.3% decrease in 
revenues over last year at $1,835,000, which is 6% of the General Fund revenue. 
 
Powell Bill 
Powell Bill revenues are funds shared by the State from the NC gasoline tax for the 
purposes of maintaining, repairing, and building municipal streets and sidewalks. The 
allocation method is based on the amount of state-wide tax collected, the number of 
City-maintained street miles in each municipality, and the population of the city. 
Funds may be reserved for future use, but they must be used within a short period of 
time or risk the State reducing future funding. Funds may only be used for specific 
purposes, which must be documented annually.  
Powell Bill distribution is 2% of General Fund revenues, estimated at $732,157, which 
is significantly higher than previous year’s budget, due to additional funding provided 
by the State Legislature last year. 
 
Other Revenues 
Utility Reimbursement to the General Fund for services rendered represents 4% of 
the General Fund revenue at $1,258,982. 
The Solid Waste disposal fee represents 3% of General Fund revenue. The monthly 
fee per household is $7.25, the same as last year. This fee is to offset the operational 
costs of the sanitation division and county tipping fees charged to the City. Total 
revenue generated from this fee is $973,631. 

068



6 
 

ABC revenues have been particularly strong in recent years, with total revenues 
estimated at $501,000 or 1.6% of General Fund revenues. 
Planning & Inspection permits and fees represent 1% of General Fund revenue. The 
total estimated revenue is $346,400. 
Recreation revenues have recovered from the shutdowns forced upon operations due 
to the pandemic. Revenues make up 0.5% of General Fund revenues at $156,000. 
Installment financing of capital purchases total $1,461,749. City Financial Policy 
allows funding of capital from unreserved fund balance in excess of 24%. The budget 
proposes using $194,256 for pay-as-you-go capital purchases. 
Other revenues amount to 2.4% of the General Fund for a total of $751,607. This 
includes revenues from the Hotel Occupancy taxes of $150,000, of which 95% is 
transferred to the Tourism Commission. 
 
Expenditures 
Salary and benefits for our employees total $17,866,508 or 58% of all expenditures. 
As explained above, a modified COLA adjustment of 2% is included for all full-time 
employees. No across-the-board merit increase is included in the budget. Employee 
health insurance premiums increased 4%. The City provides 100% coverage for 
employees for medical and vision, and allows the employee to purchase dental 
benefits on a group plan. There are no positions frozen, and there are no anticipated 
furloughs this coming year. 
The Employer’s share of the retirement system contribution increased 0.75% to 
12.16% for general employees and increased 0.94% to 13.04% for law enforcement. 
Operating expenses are 26.5% of all General Fund expenditures totaling $8,163,110. 
The total debt service is 8% of expenditures or $2,506,189. 
Capital expenditures to address needed equipment and facilities total 5.3% of all 
expenditures at $1,656,000. 
 
General Fund Reserve Accounts 
Due to the continued effects of the pandemic, the budget continues the freeze on the 
General Fund Capital Reserve contribution.  
The budget includes funding of the Economic Development reserve account in the 
amount of ½ cent of the tax rate ($106,050).  
The City Council increased the existing Recreation reserve account in fiscal year 2022, 
increasing it to 3 cents; this set-aside will raise $636,297 for recreation projects, of 
which $534,000 will be used for principal and interest payments for the new Aquatic 
Center. 
The City Council set aside a new 1-cent Street Maintenance reserve account in fiscal 
year 2022. This will raise $212,100 that will be available for street maintenance 
projects. 

069



7 
 

WATER & SEWER UTILITY ENTERPRISE FUND 
 
The City owns and operates public water treatment and transmission/distribution 
facilities, and wastewater treatment, collection/transmission and disposal facilities 
providing utility services to both residential and non-residential customers within the 
City limits, as well as surrounding unincorporated areas. As part of its ongoing 
strategic and capital planning measures, the City commissioned a Water and 
Wastewater Rate Study to analyze the revenue sources and expenditures of the utility 
system and provide recommendations for proposed rate and/or rate structure 
adjustments to meet the financial and administrative goals and objectives of the City. 
The primary objectives of the rate study include: 
 

 Full cost recovery (i.e. operating costs, debt and other expenditure 
requirements), 

 Cost-based rate structure, 
 Consistency with industry standards, 
 Equity among customer classes, 
 Administrative efficiency (i.e. easy to understand and implement), and 
 5-Year capital funding plan. 

 
In order to meet the objectives outlined above, the proposed rates for water and 
wastewater services will increase 5.75%. Based on the proposed rates, a typical 
customer with monthly flow of 4,000 gallons per month will experience an increase of 
$4.37 in their combined water and wastewater bill. However, in an effort to make it 
more convenient for customers, the third-party billing fee for debit and credit card 
transactions will no longer be applied, which will save customers using these 
payment methods $2.95 per transaction. 
 
Revenues 
Revenue in this fund has increased due to the proposed rate increase, as indicated in 
the most recent Water and Sewer Rate Study (2022). Of the total revenue of 
$14,514,968, over $12.5 million is generated by the retail sale of water and/or sewer 
to utility customers.  
The City has an interlocal agreement with the City of Trinity to process their sewer 
discharge. Annually, Trinity pays $498,169 for the debt service of our Sewer Plant 
upgrades. 
 
Expenditures 
Expenses from salaries are 23% of total expenses in the amount of $3,355,877. The 
same modified COLA salary adjustment of 2% is included for all full-time employees. 

070



8 
 

One additional employee (Assistant M/C Supervisor) is included in the budget. 
Operational expenses are 37% of total expenses in the amount of $5,376,847. Debt 
service is 28% of total expenses or $4,089,710. 
Reimbursement to the General Fund is 8.6% of total expenses or $1,258,982. 
Capital investments are 3% of total expenses or $433,552. 
 
Water & Sewer Utility Fund Reserve Account 
Due to the continued effects of the pandemic, the budget continues the freeze on the 
Water & Sewer Capital Reserve contribution.  
 

WINDING CREEK GOLF COURSE ENTERPRISE FUND 
 
Winding Creek Golf Course is an 18-hole golf course owned by the City and managed 
as a separate enterprise fund. The facility includes the course, driving range, and 
clubhouse that provides a local, affordable, recreational opportunity for people of all 
ages. Local schools use the course for their golf teams, and many different senior 
groups play the course weekly. Each year, it hosts a number of tournaments, including 
the Mayor’s Cup, which raises funds for area non-profits. 
 

Revenues 
Total revenues are projected to be $989,175. Green fees will increase $1 for weekday 
and $2 for weekend play for most customers ($455,100), but cart rental fees will 
remain the same ($265,570). General Fund support of the Golf Course is $181,862, the 
same as the previous 2 years. 
 
Expenditures 
Total expenditures are $989,175, with salaries and benefits equaling 58% of the total 
expenses ($577,301). Full-time employees of the Golf Course will receive the same 
2% modified COLA and benefits as other City staff. There is the addition of one full-
time employee to assist with grounds maintenance. 
Operating expenses are 29% of all expenses, totaling $288,991. 
Debt Service is 13% of total expenses, totaling $51,180. 
Capital Outlay is 0.07% of total expenses, totaling $71,703 to repair golf cart paths for 
six holes. 

  

071



9 
 

AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT FUNDS 
 
On March 11, 2021, the United States Congress passed the American Rescue Plan Act 
of 2021 (ARPA), which provides fiscal relief funds to State and Local governments and 
other program areas aimed at mitigating the continuing effects of the COVID-19 
pandemic. ARPA intends to provide support to local governments in responding to 
the impact of COVID-19 on their communities, residents, and businesses and in their 
efforts to contain COVID-19. These funds are in a separate project fund and are not 
included in the annual budget presented herein. 
The City of Thomasville is expected to receive a total of $8,492,968, distributed in two 
tranches or portions (August 2021 and August 2022). 
At this time, City Council has allocated $2,435,488 for water/sewer projects, golf 
course equipment (due to extensive play during the pandemic), and support for City 
employees. 
The City Council has established a fund of $1 million for outside agency non-profit 
organizations to support community recovery efforts. These funds have not been 
awarded as of yet. 
An additional $1,957,411 has been preliminarily approved to fund capital 
improvements for Parks and Recreation, Winding Creek Golf Course, and public Wi-Fi 
improvements. In addition, funds are allocated for public safety equipment purchases 
and the hiring of a Downtown Economic Development Director. 
The City Council has identified other potential projects that include redeveloping the 
Kern Street school property; upgrading HVAC units at City facilities; redeveloping the 
Plant B property; creating stormwater plans; and upgrading additional park facilities.  
 

OTHER AGENCIES FUNDED 
Each year, the City Council funds Outside Agencies, as allowed by State law, that 
perform activities that are beneficial to the citizens of Thomasville. Each organization 
must meet certain reporting requirements to insure the proper use of the funds. The 
following agencies are funded this year, accounting for 0.4% of the General Fund: 
 
Arts Davidson County $3,000 
PACE Group $33,000 
City Beautification Commission $45,000 
Davidson County Economic 
Development 

$50,000 

MLK Peace Conference $1,000 
 

The City charges a Thomasville City School Supplemental School Tax of $0.195 that 
generates $1,918,375. This is an increase of $259,622 from the previous year, with an 

072



10 
 

estimated collection rate of 95%. These funds are transferred to the Thomasville City 
Schools to support the operations of the school system. 
 

CONCLUSION 
The total combined recommended budget for fiscal year 2022-2023 for all City 
personnel, operations, equipment, capital improvements and debt service is 
$48,444,175. This is the sum of 11 funds. A summary of the departments is included 
on the following pages for each department of the General Fund, Water & Sewer 
Utility Fund, Winding Creek Golf Course Fund, and the minor funds included in the 
budget. Additionally, the detailed budget includes information provided by the 
departments for each of their expenditure line items. 
Thomasville is blessed with a strong and loyal workforce that truly wants to provide 
its citizens with quality services. The budget, if fully implemented, provides the 
resources necessary for them to maintain, and even expand, service levels our citizens 
have come to expect. I look forward to working with Council and staff as we serve the 
citizens of Thomasville. 
While this budget is the proposal of the City Manager, it is neither final nor 
necessarily a reflection of what will be approved by the City Council. Once adopted, 
the budget may be amended by City Council at any regular or special meeting. The 
Mayor and Council will review the recommended budget and receive comments at a 
public hearing scheduled for Monday, June 6, 2022 at 6:00 PM in temporary council 
chambers located at Ball Park Community Center, 7003 Ball Park Road, Thomasville, 
NC 27360. 
 
I would like to thank the City Council, Department Managers, and staff for their hard 
work and support while developing this budget. I especially want to thank Thomas 
Avant, Finance Director, and Eric Krpejs, Assistant Finance Director, for the many 
hours of work they have undertaken to ensure the accuracy and completeness of this 
budget document. 
 
If you have any questions concerning this budget proposal, please do not hesitate to 
contact me. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Michael M. Brandt, AICP 
City Manager 

073



GENERAL FUND 

GOVERNING BODY (10-4110); GOVERNING BODY LEGAL (10-4111); GOVERNING BODY

ELECTIONS (10-4114) 
The City is managed under the Council/Manager form of government with a Mayor who presides over 
the Council meetings and a Council of seven elected citizens. The Council sets the policies and 
ordinances that govern the City, while also providing strategic direction for the City Manager and staff to 
carry out. 

The City Council appoints volunteers to serve on many community boards and committees, including 
The Thomasville School Board, Thomasville ABC Board, Beautification Commission, Parks & Recreation 
Commission, Planning & Board of Adjustment, Historic Preservation Commission, Winding Creek Golf 
Course Advisory Board, and the Thomasville Tourism Commission. Some of these also receive direct 
funding from the City for services provided directly or indirectly to the citizens of Thomasville. 

The City Attorney and funding for the Davidson County Board of Elections is also included within this 
department. 

Number of Employees: 1 Mayor, 7 City Council Members, City Attorney 

Key Budget Expenditure Highlights: 

The City Council moved to increase the salary of the Mayor’s position to $10,000 annually. There is no 
change in salary for City Council. 

The City Council approved $132,000 in funding for outside agencies. 

Budget Summary: 

Dept. Name Div. Division Name Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 
Dept. 

Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 
Governing 

Body 
10 Mayor/Council Personnel 

Services 
$       81,116 $       93,042  $     103,458  $       103,458 

Governing 
Body 

10 Mayor/Council Operations & 
Maintenance 

$     468,659   $    482,293   $     888,287   $       892,037  

Governing 
Body 

10 Mayor/Council Capital Outlay  $          -    $          -    $          -    $         -   

Governing 
Body 

11 Legal Personnel 
Services 

$     171,907  $    152,534  $     153,735 $       153,735  

Governing 
Body 

11 Legal Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $         3,473 $       20,547  $       15,594 $       15,594 

Governing 
Body 

14 Elections Operations & 
Maintenance 

$       15,716 $       20,500  $             -  $         -   

Governing 
Body 

 
$     740,871  $    768,916   $ 1,161,074  $    1,164,824  

074



ADMINISTRATION (10 - 4210) 
The Administration Department is responsible for the day-to-day administration of all City services and 
is under the direction of the City Manager. The City Manager serves as the chief executive officer for the 
City and is assisted by an Assistant City Manager. 

Administration coordinates and oversees all City departments and implements policy decisions made by 
the Mayor and City Council. In addition, the department includes the City Clerk, who is hired by the City 
Council to manage the public records of the City. 

Number of Full Time Employees: 5 (1 new position proposed, Downtown Economic Development 
Director) 

Key Budget Expenditure Highlights: 

City Administrative staff includes the ARPA Grant Administrator and the new Downtown Economic 
Development Director, both of these positions are funded through ARPA, therefore are not included in 
this budget. 

Budget Summary: 

Dept. Name Div. Division 
Name 

Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 
Dept. 

Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Administration 10 City 
Manager/City 
Clerk 

Personnel 
Services 

$   435,904 $    402,776   $    489,557   $          489,557  

Administration 10 City 
Manager/City 
Clerk 

Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $    54,972   $     52,718   $      48,466   $            48,466  

Administration 10 City 
Manager/City 
Clerk 

Capital Outlay  $             -     $            -     $                -     $                    -    

Administration        $  490,876   $   455,494   $    538,023   $          538,023  
 
 

075



FINANCE DEPARTMENT (10-4410) & TAX COLLECTION (10-4411) 

The Finance Department is responsible for the general accounting and financial reporting of the City. 
Staff maintains all financial records for the City of Thomasville and prepares various financial reports. 
The department also provides financial management of all City funds including the City’s debt and 
investment portfolios.  The accounting system is maintained with generally accepted accounting 
principles. The department provides fiscal support to all City departments. 

Accounting staff perform day-to-day financial transactions, including verifying and recording of accounts 
payable data, preparing bills and invoices, and processing payments in compliance with financial policies 
and procedures.  

Thomasville contracts with Davidson County to collect City of Thomasville property taxes. 

Number of Full Time Employees: 5  

The Finance Director also oversees the Utility Billing Department, which is part of the Water/Sewer 
Utility Fund. 

Budget Summary: 

Dept. 
Name 

Div. Division 
Name 

Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Finance 10 Accounting Personnel 
Services 

$     554,953  $   514,265  $       533,604   $             533,604 

Finance 10 Accounting Operations & 
Maintenance 

$       77,871  $     96,479  $       101,766   $             101,766 

Finance 11 Tax Collection Operations & 
Maintenance 

$     150,981  $   150,000  $       156,000   $             156,000 

Finance       $     783,805  $   760,744  $       791,370   $             791,370 
 

076



PERSONNEL (HUMAN RESOURCES) (10 - 4610) 
The Personnel Department is responsible for administering and supporting the employee recruiting, 
retention and rewards programs for all employees of the City of Thomasville.  The department 
accomplishes this by coordinating and assisting with recruiting efforts for qualified candidates for all 
departments. The department also administers payroll, compensation, benefits, worker’s compensation 
matters and wellness plans. It coordinates employee training and development programs and provides 
guidance for employee relations matters, as appropriate. It helps ensure the City’s compliance with 
employment laws and collaborates with other departments to develop, implement and enforce 
employee policies and procedures. 

The City Manager, supervisors and other employees in order to help them make well-informed decisions 
for daily operations within the work environment, uses these supportive resources.  

Number of Full Time Employees: 3  

Budget Summary: 

Dept. 
Name 

Div. Division Name Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 
Dept. 

Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Personnel 10 Administration Personnel 
Services 

 $      262,210   $  268,165   $    282,073   $             282,073  

Personnel 10 Administration Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $        40,349   $    40,080   $      65,970   $               50,693  

Personnel 10 Administration Capital Outlay  $                   -     $               -     $                 -     $                        -    

Personnel        $      302,559   $  308,245   $    348,043   $             332,766  

 

077



MANAGEMENT INFORMATION SYSTEMS (010-4710) 

The MIS department provides informational, technical, and innovative services for approximately 280 
users and 12 departments. There are an estimated 550 devices that include desktops, laptops, tablets, 
cell phones, voice over internet protocol (VoIP), physical and virtual servers, as well as physical and 
wireless network infrastructure at 14 locations. The department also maintains public Wi-Fi that covers 
two downtown blocks. MIS administers the PEG channel server for channel 13, which is broadcast by 
spectrum for Davidson County. MIS maintains security cameras and security camera servers and also 
assists the Police Department with retrieval of footage, as needed for investigations. MIS provides 
advice, assistance, design, and implementation for departmental deployment or projects, such as 
security cameras, Wi-Fi, networking, new applications, enhancements of old applications and new work 
flows or processes. 

Number of Full Time Employees: 3 

  

Budget Summary: 

Dept. 
Name 

Div. Division Name Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

MIS 10 Administration Personnel 
Services 

 $  172,532   $    216,189   $        270,440   $         270,440  

MIS 10 Administration Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $  289,609   $    320,789   $        339,002   $         307,803  

MIS 10 Administration Capital Outlay  $              -     $              -     $                   -     $                    -    
MIS        $  462,141   $    536,978   $        609,442   $         578,243  
  

 

 

 

 

078



PLANNING DEPARTMENT (10-4910) 
The Planning Department is responsible for enforcing the technical codes, the General Statues set by the 
State of North Carolina, and Thomasville’s Code of Ordinances; performing technical reviews of 
development plans and subdivision plans, application for rezoning and variance, certificate of 
appropriateness, itinerant merchant permits, business registration, social district permits, floodplain 
permits, and stormwater permits. The Planning and Zoning Administrator acts as liaison with various 
committees, adjoining governing bodies, and other local, state, and federal government agencies. They 
also manage the day-to-day operations of the Inspections and Engineering Departments; and acting as 
staff for the Planning & Board of Adjustment and Historic Preservation Commission.  

Number of Full Time Employees: 1 

Budget Summary: 

Dept. 
Name 

Div. Division Name Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Planning 10 Administration Personnel 
Services 

 $      96,611   $    102,956   $        106,953   $           106,953  

Planning 10 Administration Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $      14,633   $      34,455   $          35,720   $             32,720  

Planning       $     111,244   $    137,411   $        142,673   $           139,673  
 
 

079



CITY HALL/PUBLIC BUILDINGS (10 - 5020) 
The City Hall/ Public Buildings department is responsible for all of costs associated with the operations 
and maintenance of City Hall, the former Police Department building, 16 Trade Street storage building, 
and the commons area along the railroad tracks, including the “Big Chair”, fountain, clock tower, and the 
Visitor’s Center building. 

Number of Full Time Employees: 1 

Budget Summary: 

Dept. 
Name 

Div. Division Name Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 
Dept. 

Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

City Hall 20 Public Building Personnel 
Services 

 $      55,911   $         57,816   $         59,453   $            59,453  

City Hall 20 Public Building Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $    116,938   $       179,932   $       158,940   $         158,940  

City Hall 20 Public Building Capital Outlay  $                 -     $                   -     $         65,500   $                       -    

City Hall        $    172,849   $       237,748   $       283,893   $         218,393  

 

080



POLICE DEPARTMENT (10-5110) 

The Thomasville Police Department has the responsibility of providing a diverse variety of services to the community.  
These services include protecting the rights and liberties of citizens, preventing and controlling crime, arresting 
offenders, aiding citizens in distress, resolving conflicts, and maintaining general order for the safety of all citizens.   

The Thomasville Police Department is an agency committed to excellence and exemplifies the core values of integrity, 
courage, loyalty, professionalism, and accountability. The primary mission is to serve our citizens by developing a 
partnership with the community in order to protect life and property, prevent crime, and resolve problems.   

Administrative Bureau: 

The Administrative Bureau is responsible for the overall direction and administration of the agency.  

Field Operations Bureau: 
 
The Field Operations Bureau performs the primary police function for the Department, including preventive patrol, 
enforcement of criminal law, traffic enforcement and investigation, response to calls for service, and criminal 
investigations.  
 
Investigative Services Bureau: 
 
The Investigative Services Bureau provides primary support functions for the Department, including the Criminal 
Investigations Division, Special Operations (Vice & Narcotics) Unit, Community Liaison/Crime Prevention, Property and 
Evidence Control.  
 
Number of Full Time Employees: 68 Sworn Officers; 6 Civilian staff (Propose to add 1 patrol officer in FY23) 

Key Budget Expenditure Highlights:  

 Capital Expenses—all equipment listed is to replace current equipment 

Patrol Vehicles – 4 Dodge Chargers    $171,000  
K9 Vehicle – 1 Chevy Tahoe       $36,500 
5 Watchguard In-Car Cameras       $35,000     
Watchguard Software Upgrade year 1 (of 5):                  $127,700 (*price under negotiation) 

 
Budget Summary: 
 

Dept. 
Name 

Div. Division Name Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Police 10 Administration Personnel Services  $    5,634,833   $    6,096,697   $      6,297,298   $         6,297,298  
Police 10 Administration Operations & 

Maintenance 
 $    2,247,979   $    2,426,892   $      2,688,870   $         2,623,727  

Police 10 Administration Capital Outlay  $          50,848   $        279,242   $         343,650   $             343,650  
Police 10 Administration Transfers  $          10,000   $          10,000   $            10,000   $               10,000  
Police        $    7,943,660   $    8,812,831   $      9,339,818   $         9,274,675  
 

081



FIRE & RESCUE DEPARTMENT (010-5310) 

Thomasville Fire & Rescue Department provides fire, rescue and emergency medical services to the 
citizens of Thomasville. The department has four stations strategically located throughout the City. The 
department provides rescue services for Trench, High Angle, Confined Space and Swift Water. The 
department possesses three ladder trucks, three fire engines, one rescue apparatus and one Battalion 
Chief SUV within the Operations Division. The department has a Class 3 ISO rating.  

Number of Full Time Employees: 62; 5 Part-time  

Key Budget Expenditure Highlights:  

Replace Fire Engine     $650,000  
Integrate Motorola Flex Software     $11,156  
NFRIS Record Management System     $11,900 

 
Budget Summary: 
 

Dept. 
Name 

Div. Division Name Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Fire 10 Administration Personnel 
Services 

 $   4,250,418   $ 4,751,279   $    4,902,148   $        4,877,148  

Fire 10 Administration Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $      970,868   $    986,211   $    1,144,675   $        1,094,639  

Fire 10 Administration Capital Outlay  $   1,070,191   $      41,070   $        673,056   $           673,056  
Fire 10 Administration Transfers  $                   -     $                -     $                     -     $                        -    
Fire        $  6,291,477   $ 5,778,560   $    6,719,879   $        6,644,843  
 

082



INSPECTION DEPARTMENT (010-5410) 
The Inspection Department is responsible for enforcing the State of North Carolina Building Codes and 
Thomasville’s Code of Ordinances. In addition, the department accepts plans for review and issues 
building, electrical, plumbing, and mechanical permits for new construction, additions to existing 
structures, and alterations to existing structures. The department also enforces minimum housing 
violations, nuisance violations, and junk vehicle violations.  

Number of Full Time Employees: 6  

Budget Summary: 

Dept. Name Div. Division Name Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Inspections 10 Administration Personnel 
Services 

 $  388,238   $        487,327   $        498,866   $           498,866  

Inspections 10 Administration Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $    60,621   $        148,619   $        156,135   $           155,335  

Inspections 10 Administration Capital Outlay  $               -     $          22,000   $                     -     $                        -    
Inspections        $  448,859   $        657,946   $        655,001   $           654,201  

 

083



ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT (010-5510) 

The Engineering Department is responsible for providing various location, layout, boundary, and 
construction surveys on small public works projects. Typical projects include street right-of-way 
acquisitions; sanitary sewer and water location and easement surveys; layout of park facilities; and 
boundary surveys of city-owned properties. 

Other responsibilities include but are not limited to:  

Signing and mapping Powell Bill documentation; reviewing building permits, site plans and subdivisions 
for compliance with city ordinances; mapping street lights and reviewing requests for street lights in 
accordance with the street lighting policy; maintaining city maps and other documents concerning City 
Limits, City properties, easements, streets, sanitary sewer lines, water lines and zoning. 

Number of Full Time Employees: 2  

Budget Summary: 

Dept. Name Div. Division Name Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Engineering 10 Administration Personnel 
Services 

 $      288,584   $    202,966   $        278,598   $           249,681  

Engineering 10 Administration Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $        19,007   $      28,267   $          29,543   $              29,543  

Engineering 10 Administration Capital 
Outlay 

 $                   -     $                -     $                    -     $                        -    

Engineering        $      307,591   $    231,233   $        308,141   $           279,224  
 

 

 

084



PUBLIC WORKS BUILDING (010-5620) 

The PW Building division is comprised of Central Inventory/Purchasing and Administration.  The Central 
Inventory/Purchasing division serves as the central warehouse for supplies used by all City departments.  
This division works very closely with Fleet Services to maintain inventory for all equipment repairs such 
as oils, fluids, tires, engine components, and brake system components.  In addition, all record keeping 
and title work for any rolling assets are managed in this division.  This division also administers and 
maintains the City’s GovDeals account, which is an online surplus equipment website. 

The Administration division encompasses the Public Works Director. The Director is responsible for 
managing the Sanitation, Streets, Fleet, and Central Inventory/Purchasing divisions, along with 
overseeing the storm water management program.   

Number of Full Time Employees: 2 

Key Budget Expenditure Highlights: 

Fence to Secure Lower Lot  $30,000.00 

Budget Summary: 

Dept. Name Div. Division 
Name 

Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Public Works 20 Building Personnel Services  $  181,147   $    188,463   $        198,260   $           198,260  
Public Works 20 Building Operations & 

Maintenance 
 $    56,061   $      77,434   $          75,414   $              91,643  

Public Works 20 Building Capital Outlay  $                      
-    

 $      65,000   $          30,000   $              30,000  

Public Works  Building   $  237,524     $   330,897   $        303,674   $           319,903  
 

  

085



STREET DIVISION (010-5630) 

The Streets Division is responsible for the maintenance of 100 linear miles of streets within the City.  In 
addition, they provide support and work closely with NCDOT on the 85 miles of street within the City 
that are State maintained.  Their duties include maintaining ditches and drainage, mowing the interstate 
intersections, and performing maintenance and upkeep of the public areas such as the downtown 
common areas, Thomasville City Cemetery, and other public common areas around the City. They are 
also responsible for plowing streets during snowstorms. This division is recognized as a “first responder” 
by the Department of Homeland Security. 

Number of Full Time Employees: 20 (including additional position moved from Powell Bill to Street 
Division effective 7/1/2023) 

Key Budget Expenditure Highlights: 

Street Lighting      $525,000  
1 Backhoe     $148,000 
1 Compact Excavator       $80,000 
 
Budget Summary: 
 
Dept. Name Div. Division 

Name 
Account 

Description 
FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Public Works 30 Streets Personnel 
Services 

 $      888,444   $    983,700   $    1,068,106   $          1,068,106  

Public Works 30 Streets Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $      690,118   $ 1,077,471   $    1,240,063   $          1,217,563  

Public Works 30 Streets Capital Outlay  $      154,600   $    338,051   $        228,000   $             228,000  
Public Works  Streets  $   1,733,162 $ 2,399,222 $     2,536,169 $           2,513,669 
 

  

086



POWELL BILL (010-5640) 

Powell Bill derives from reimbursements from the State of North Carolina for street and right-of-way 
improvement/maintenance.  These funds are calculated by the number of street miles maintained by 
the City. Funds may only be used for expenditures specifically allowed by State Statute. Generally, they 
are used to repair and resurface locally maintained streets and street drainage systems and employee 
costs related to those services. 

Paving City streets is an important priority of the City Council. In 2022, the Council authorized a 
Pavement Condition Analysis, which is being used to prioritize street paving and maintenance on city 
streets. In addition, in FY 2022, the City Council set-aside 1-cent of the property tax ($212,000) for street 
paving and sidewalk maintenance.  

The proposed budget includes an additional $5 charged for the annual Vehicle Tax ($10 total). These 
funds ($111,000) of which a portion will be allocated to street paving and maintenance. These funds, 
along with Powell Bill fund balance will be allocated during FY2023, significantly increasing funds 
available for street maintenance in FY2023. 

Number of Full Time Employees: 1 

Key Budget Expenditure Highlights: 

Asphalt patching and pothole repair     $82,000 
Professional resurfacing contracts (street paving) $525,000 (additional funds will be allocated in 

FY23) 
 
Budget Summary:  

Dept. Name Div. Division 
Name 

Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Public Works 40 Powell Bill Personnel 
Services 

 $      104,360   $    112,082   $              52,157   $                 52,157  

Public Works 40 Powell Bill Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $        63,973   $    680,000   $           680,000   $               680,000  

Public Works 40 Powell Bill Capital Outlay  $                   -     $                 -     $                        -     $                          -    
Public Works  Powell Bill  $      168,333 $      792,082 $           732,157 $               732,157 

 
 

  

087



SOLID WASTE DIVISION (010-5660) 

The Solid Waste Division provides weekly collection of residential waste, bulk waste, recycling, yard 
waste, tires, and appliances to approximately 11,000 residential and small commercial accounts. 
Sanitation collects over 18,500 tons of household solid waste annually. Although recycling services are 
offered to all of our customers, there are typically an average 4,300 customers weekly, recycling 
approximately 575 tons of materials annually.  

This division also collects yard waste year round and loose leaves during the fall and early winter. On 
average, the crews collect 2,650 tons of yard waste and about 800 tons of loose leaves. Many of the 
loose leaves are recycled as mulch by area farmers and gardeners. 

Number of Full Time Employees: 31  

Key Budget Expenditure Highlights:  

1 Rear Load Garbage Truck    $225,000 
1 Used Automated Leaf Truck      $60,000 
1 Pickup truck         $37,500 

 
Budget Summary:  
 

Dept. Name Div. Division 
Name 

Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Public 
Works 

60 Solid Waste Personnel 
Services 

 $    1,409,724   $ 1,513,554   $        1,537,475   $        1,537,475  

Public 
Works 

60 Solid Waste Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $    1,333,484   $ 1,343,541   $        1,431,092   $        1,417,892  

Public 
Works 

60 Solid Waste Capital Outlay  $                     -     $    456,243   $           322,500   $           322,500  

Public 
Works 

 Solid Waste  $     2,743,208 $  3,313,338 $        3,291,067 $        3,277,867 

 

  

088



FLEET SERVICES DIVISION (010-5670) 

The Garage, or Fleet Services, is responsible for servicing and maintaining over 635 pieces of equipment.  
All work is performed “in house,” unless warranty coverage is available or under special circumstances, 
such as specialty work on fire apparatus pumps and heavy equipment engine replacements, which are 
sent to 3rd-party vendors.   

Number of Full Time Employees: 5 

Key Budget Expenditure Highlights: 

Replacement of garage doors    $15,000 
 
Budget Summary: 
 
Dept. 
Name 

Div. Division 
Name 

Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Public 
Works 

70 Fleet Services Personnel 
Services 

 $      269,665   $      301,120   $           324,153   $           324,153  

Public 
Works 

70 Fleet Services Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $        55,121   $        76,280   $              72,558   $              72,558  

Public 
Works 

70 Fleet Services Capital Outlay  $                  -     $          7,706   $                        -     $                        -    

Public 
Works 

 Fleet Services  $      324,786 $      385,106 $            396,711  $           396,711 

 

 

 

 

089



RADIO SERVICE (10-5710) 

The City maintains a radio tower and radio service for many of the departments of the City. The radio 
tower is located at Winding Creek Golf Course. The City and Davidson County jointly constructed a large 
radio tower to provide access to the Guilford Metro 9-1-1 system. 

Number of Full Time Employees: 0 

Budget Summary: 

Dept. 
Name 

Div. Division Name Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Radio 
Service 

10 Administration Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $    528,608   $    610,730   $         252,168   $           252,168  

Radio 
Service 

10 Administration Capital Outlay  $    110,043   $    110,043   $                   -     $                      -    

Radio 
Service 

       $    638,651   $    720,773   $         252,168   $           252,168  

 

090



RECREATION DEPARTMENT (ADMINISTRATION 10-6210, PROGRAMS 10-6280, FACILITIES 10-
6290) 

“Our Mission to provide quality recreational opportunities to better our community through people, 
parks and programs.”  

The department maintains over 84 acres of Recreational property in the City of Thomasville. There are 
sixteen Park Facilities and spaces that feature eight playgrounds, three tennis courts, a downtown 
amphitheater and farmer’s market, a skate park, six outdoor basketball courts, six shelters, one 
gymnasium, three recreation centers, one professional size baseball field, one football stadium, one 
administrative office building, and seven athletic fields.  Our community programs strive to host a 
variety of opportunities in athletics, camps, nature, arts, special events, senior activities or open play.  

Key Projects and Programs: Enhanced programing at Central Recreation Center and new special events 
and programs 

Number of Full Time Employees: 10; 35+ part-time employees; 50+ Community Volunteers serving as 
program leaders, coaches, and assistants 

Key Budget Expenditure Highlights:  

Community & Aquatic Center     $6,500,000 Million continuing project 
Central Recreation Outdoor Bathroom Repairs         $43,050 
Utility side-by-side vehicle                $15,749 

Expenditures for operations of the new aquatic center are planned for summer 2023 

Budget Summary: 

Dept. Name Div. Division Name Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Recreation 10 Administration Personnel 
Services 

 $        182,076   $    173,985   $        178,936   $           178,936  

Recreation 10 Administration Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $          17,952   $      20,431   $          27,252   $              27,252  

Recreation 80 Organized 
Programs 

Personnel 
Services 

 $        243,236   $    345,623   $        361,468   $           338,444  

Recreation 80 Organized 
Programs 

Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $          47,777   $      89,083   $        142,677   $           142,677  

Recreation 90 Facilities Personnel 
Services 

 $        170,238   $    251,320   $        246,711   $           246,711  

Recreation 90 Facilities Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $        416,370   $ 2,038,972   $    1,509,209   $        1,026,246  

Recreation 90 Facilities Capital Outlay  $                    -     $      60,000   $          58,799   $              58,799  
Recreation 90 Facilities Transfers  $                    -     $                 -     $                    -     $                        -    
Recreation        $    1,077,649   $ 2,979,414   $    2,525,052   $        2,019,065  

 

091



GENERAL FUND NON-DEPARTMENTAL (10-9010) 

The General Fund has certain expenditures that are either across multiple departments or are transfers 
to other funds, reserve accounts, or contingency accounts. 

Number of Full Time Employees: 0 

Key Budget Expenditure Highlights:  

Transfer to Winding Creek Golf Course for debt service   $181,862 

Contingency Fund       $275,000 

Set-aside for Economic Development Fund      $56,050 

Budget Summary: 

Dept. Name Div. Division Name Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Non-
Departmental 

10 Administration Transfers To 
Golf Course 

 $        253,042   $      181,862   $        181,862   $           181,862  

Non-
Departmental 

10 Administration Unallocated  $                     -     $      296,330   $        381,420   $           449,140  

Non-
Departmental 

       $        253,042   $      478,192   $        563,282   $           631,002  

 

092



WATER & SEWER UTILITIES ENTERPRISE FUND 

 

UTILITIES ADMINISTRATION (030-7010) 

The Utilities Director oversees the operations of all Utility Divisions. This office is responsible for 
collecting and analyzing data regarding both the collection and distribution systems, in order to plan for 
long-term maintenance and holistic growth of the utility systems; coordinating with NCDOT for utility 
relocations during NCDOT projects; and analyzing for approval or denial proposed expansions of both 
the water distribution and sanitary sewer collection systems. 

Number of Full Time Employees: 1  

Key Budget Expenditure Highlights:  

2021 Water Line Replacement Projects    $7,799,863 
Rains Road Sewer Pump Station and Forcemain Upgrades $5,000,000 
 
Budget Summary: 
   

Dept. 
Name 

Div. Division Name Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 
Dept. 

Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Utility 10 Administration Personnel 
Services 

 $    243,648   $    121,734   $       125,054   $                 125,054 

Utility 10 Administration Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $      17,738  $      21,407   $         21,252  $                   21,252 

Total  Administration  $    261,386 $    143,141 $       146,306 $                 146,306 
  

093



BILLING AND COLLECTIONS DEPARTMENT (030-7015) 

The Billing and Collections department consists of a Customer Service Supervisor, two billing 
clerks, two collections clerks, and a switchboard operator. The department is responsible for 
billing and collection for over 11,000 water/sewer customers.  The staff also fields calls from 
customers regarding various issues and questions that may arise in the City.  

The billing division is responsible for providing the meter technicians with the proper 
information to record readings for the customers’ monthly water/sewer consumption.  This 
includes quality control checks to confirm proper readings and customer records.  Customers 
are divided into north side and south side billing cycles (north or south of the main railroad 
route) which are each billed monthly. 

The collections division is responsible for the entry of payments received from water/sewer 
customers.  This division also collects and posts all entries of monies collected from various 
departments within the City.  Payments are received via mail, electronic bank payments, bank 
drafts, drop box and in-person. 

The switchboard operator answers questions and directs citizen inquiries throughout the City 
departments.  This position also serves as a backup to the collection clerks. 

Number of Full Time Employees: 6   

Budget Summary: 

Dept. 
Name 

Div. Division 
Name 

Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Utility 15 Billing & 
Collection 

Personnel 
Services 

 $      341,612   $        357,317   $             381,508   $                381,508  

Utility 15 Billing & 
Collection 

Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $      339,587   $        230,792   $             361,131   $                363,131  

Utility 15 Billing & 
Collection 

Capital Outlay  $                  -     $                    -     $                         -     $                          -    

Total  Billing & 
Collection 

 $      681,199 $        588,109 $             742,639 $                 744,639 

 

094



UTILITY METER SERVICE (030-7095) 

Utility Meter Service Division handles reading of over 11,000 water meters throughout the city on a 
monthly basis. In addition to reading, they are also responsible for turning on new services, cutting off 
service as necessary, service restorations, locking meter setters, and changing residential-size meters. 
Meter readers walk over a hundred miles a year, interacting with community members every day. 

Number of Full Time Employees: 4 

Key Budget Expenditure Highlights: 

1 Pickup Truck      $27,583 
 
Budget Summary: 

Dept. 
Name 

Div. Division Name Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Utility 95 Meter Service Personnel 
Services 

 $    212,529   $      208,559   $        211,760   $             211,760  

Utility 95 Meter Service Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $      45,496   $        66,070   $          70,096   $               72,010  

Utility 95 Meter Service Capital Outlay  $                -     $        30,000   $          57,583   $               57,583  
Total  Meter Service  $    258,025 $       304,629 $        339,439 $              341,353 

 

 

  

095



UTILITY MAINTENANCE & CONSTRUCTION (030-7096) 

The Maintenance & Construction Division manages 160.8 miles of water distribution pipe and valves, 
1,076 fire hydrants, and 226.6 miles of sanitary sewer collection pipe and manholes. In addition, they 
make new water and sewer taps, renew old taps, change out large water meters, and clear and maintain 
easements throughout the city and county. Much of this work is performed in street rights-of-way and 
requires knowledge not only of how to perform the technical line work correctly, but to maintain proper 
traffic control protocols to protect both the public and employees while doing this work. Sanitary sewer 
collection and treatment is considered to be one of the greatest achievements of ancient and modern 
civilizations in protecting public health. 

Number of Full Time Employees: 16 (proposed budget includes a new Assistant Supervisor) 

Key Budget Expenditure Highlights: 

1 F-350 with utility bed    $55,736 
1 Ford Ranger     $32,510 
1 Kubota excavator     $67,377 
1 F-550 with dump bed    $60,346 

Budget Summary: 

Dept. 
Name 

Div. Division Name Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 
Dept. 

Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Utility 96 Maintenance & 
Construction 

Personnel Services  $      892,534   $        942,098   $  1,082,002   $        1,082,002  

Utility 96 Maintenance & 
Construction 

Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $   1,510,570   $    4,349,105   $  3,746,631   $        3,760,858  

Utility 96 Maintenance & 
Construction 

Capital Outlay  $                  -     $        160,579   $      215,969   $           215,969  

Total  Maintenance & 
Construction 

 $   2,403,104 $     5,451,782 $   5,044,602 $        5,058,829 

 

  

096



UTILITY WATER TREATMENT PLANT (030-7097) 

The Water Plant maintains a raw water pump station at Lake Thom-a-Lex that pumps water to the plant 
on Lexington Avenue for processing into potable (drinkable) water.  At the water plant, the raw water is 
filtered and chemically processed to produce clean drinking water that meets all standards required by 
the EPA to protect public health. The water plant also maintains the three aerial storage tanks located in 
the city and has a total finished water storage capacity of 3.5 million gallons.  On average, the City 
produces 2.5 MGD. The water plant must be staffed 24-hours a day, 7 days per week. 

Number of Full Time Employees: 7 

 
Budget Summary: 

Dept. 
Name 

Div. Division 
Name 

Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Utility 97 Water 
Treatment 
Plant 

Personnel 
Services 

 $      554,523   $         621,724   $           626,239   $           626,239  

Utility 97 Water 
Treatment 
Plant 

Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $      991,587   $      1,673,433   $        1,514,472   $        1,514,472  

Utility 97 Water 
Treatment 
Plant 

Capital Outlay  $                   -     $         466,000   $                        -     $                       -    

Total  Water 
Treatment 
Plant 

 $   1,546,110 $      2,761,157 $        2,140,711 $        2,140,711 

 

  

097



UTILITY HAMBY CREEK WASTE WATER TREATMENT PLANT (WWTP) (030-7098) 

Hamby Creek WWTP receives wastewater from the sanitary sewer collection system and processes the 
wastewater to remove most biological and chemical contaminants, so that the clean water can be 
released into Hamby Creek or re-used for non-potable purposes.  Staff maintain both the equipment at 
the water treatment plant as well as 26 sewage pumping stations and 3 sewage metering stations that 
are scattered throughout the city and county. The City also processes waste from the City of Trinity 
under a long-term contract. The waste treatment plant must be staffed 24-hours a day, 7 days per week. 

Number of Full Time Employees: 12 

Key Budget Expenditure Highlights: 

UV Disinfection System Upgrade (First of 2)   $115,000 
1 Service Truck         $45,000 
    
Budget Summary: 
 

Dept. 
Name 

Div. Division Name Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Utility 98 Waste 
Treatment Plant 

Personnel 
Services 

 $      903,605   $      932,651   $             929,314   $              929,314  

Utility 98 Waste 
Treatment Plant 

Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $   2,297,218   $   4,658,462   $          4,682,603   $           4,685,726  

Utility 98 Waste 
Treatment Plant 

Capital 
Outlay 

 $                  -     $      338,000   $             160,000   $              160,000  

Utility 98 Waste 
Treatment Plant 

Transfers  $                  -     $        47,510   $                         -     $                          -    

Total  Waste 
Treatment Plant 

 $   3,200,823 $   5,976,623 $          5,771,917 $            5,775,040 

 

098



WATER & SEWER UTILITY NON-DEPARTMENTAL (10-9010) 

The Water & Sewer Utility Fund has certain expenditures that are either across multiple departments or 
are transfers to other funds, reserve accounts, or contingency accounts. 

Number of Full Time Employees: 0 

Key Budget Expenditure Highlights:  

Contingency Fund       $230,000 
OSHA safety equipment and training       $33,090 

Budget Summary: 

Dept. Name Div. Division 
Name 

Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 
Dept. 

Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 
Non-
Departmental 

10 Administration Unallocated  $   3,755,457   $    227,657   $       278,090   $              308,090  

Non-
Departmental 

10 Administration Year End 
Adjustments 

 $     (55,882)  $                 -     $                    -     $                          -    

Non-
Departmental 

       $  3,699,575   $    227,657   $       278,090   $              308,090  

 

099



GOLF COURSE ENTERPRISE FUND 
 
WINDING CREEK GOLF COURSE (CLUBHOUSE 031-6221; COURSE MAINTENANCE 031-6291; 
GOLF NON-DEPARTMENTAL 031-9010) 
 
Winding Creek Golf Course was built on the former City of Thomasville Landfill and opened in August of 
1996. The golf course has matured over the years into one of the best championship golf courses in the 
Triad area. The 165-acre, 18-hole course has significant elevation changes and challenges, playing like a 
mountain course, along with both water and bunker hazards. There are challenging holes that turn right 
or left, making for scenic approach shots into greens that would make any golf course envious. With a 
putting green, driving range, golf academy, and grill, we are just waiting to serve your golfing needs. 
Come for a visit, to play, or just to talk golf! 
 
Number of Full Time Employees: 6; (budget proposes a new Golf Course Groundskeeper) 15+ Part Time 
and seasonal employees 
 
Key Budget Expenditure Highlights: 
Golf Cart Path Repairs to 6 Holes   $71,703 
 
Budget Summary: 

Dept. Name Div. Division Name Account 
Description 

FY 2021 
Actual 

FY 2022 
Budget 

FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

Recreation 21 Clubhouse Personnel 
Services 

 $       209,749   $       175,225  $        192,592  $             192,592  

Recreation 21 Clubhouse Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $         49,405   $         60,626  $          72,420   $               72,420  

Recreation 21 Clubhouse Capital Outlay  $                    -     $                    -     $                     -     $                         -    
Recreation 91 Course 

Maintenance 
Personnel 
Services 

 $       315,585  $       338,893  $        384,709  $            384,709  

Recreation 91 Course 
Maintenance 

Operations & 
Maintenance 

 $       122,919  $       191,881  $       201,571  $            201,571  

Recreation 91 Course 
Maintenance 

Capital Outlay  $                    -     $                     -     $         71,703  $              71,703  

Sub-Total        $       697,658  $       766,625  $       922,995  $            922,995  
Non-
Departmental 

10 Administration Unallocated  $       171,107  $       123,814  $         66,180  $              66,180  

Sub-Total        $       171,107  $       123,814  $         66,180  $              66,180  
 Total        $       868,765  $       890,439  $       989,175  $            989,175  

 
 

100



OTHER MINOR FUNDS 
The City maintains small funds for specialized purposes.  

Number of Full Time Employees: 0 

Funds: 

General Capital Reserve Fund is to provide funding for major capital projects or equipment within the 
General Fund.  

Water & Sewer Utility Reserve Fund is to provide funding for major capital projects within the Water & 
Sewer Utility Fund. 

Storm Water Management Fund is funded via a $1.00 charge per month per inside customer utility 
accounts. These revenues support expenditures for engineering services, surveying, illicit discharge 
detection, and storm water public education. These expenses are required to comply with Federal and 
State storm water regulations. 

 School Supplement Tax Fund acts as a pass-thru account to allocate tax and other revenues collected 
on behalf of the Thomasville School District. 

Police Restitution & Forfeiture Fund is a special fund that provides resources for the Thomasville Police 
Department when they participate on joint task forces or other sharing from Federal resources. 

Beautification Fund is a special fund for expenses of the Beautification Committee 

Cemetery Fund is a special fund that uses the proceeds from the sale of lots in the City Cemetery to 
provide funding for projects that benefit the cemetery. 

Reservoir Fund is a joint effort of the Cities of Thomasville and Lexington to manage Lake Tom-A-Lex.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

101



Budget Summary: 

Dept. Dept. Name Div. FY 2021 Actual FY 2022 Budget FY 2023 Dept. 
Requested 

FY 2023 
Recommended 

Budget 

20-9010 General Fund 
Capital 
Reserve 

10 $                          0 $                          0 $                              0 $                               0 

21-9010 Utility Capital 
Reserve 

10 $                          0 $                          0 $                              0 $                               0 

32-7110 Storm Water 
Management 

10 $                45,752  $              114,627  $                  103,380  $                   103,380  

40-9010 School Fund 10 $          1,613,198  1,658,753  $              1,918,375  $                1,918,375  
41-5110 Police 

Restitution & 
Forfeitures 

10 $                61,264  164,546  $                 100,400  $                   100,400  

42-6410 Beautification 10 $                18,471 77,435  $                   40,100  $                     45,100  
43-6510 Cemetery 10 $                12,161  51,779  $                   14,000  $                     14,000  
50-8010 Reservoir 10 $                41,940  $                          0 $                              0 $                                0 
Grand 
Total 

     $       1,792,786   $          2,067,140   $              2,176,255   $                2,181,255  

 

 

 

 

102



  

AN ORDINANCE TO ENACT CHAPTER 70, ARTICLE VI OF THE 
THOMASVILLE CODE OF ORDINANCES: SOCIAL DISTRICT 

 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF THOMASVILLE: 

 
Chapter 70, Article VI of the Thomasville Code of Ordinances is hereby enacted to 

read as follows: 
 

Section 1: Article VI- SOCIAL DISTRICT 
 
 
Section 70-160. – Purpose and Intent. 

 
(a) Pursuant to the provisions of North Carolina General Statute 160A-205.4, et seq, 

one or more social districts may be created within the city and the City hereby 
creates and designates the following social district: Downtown Thomasville 
Social District which is designated as shown on a map dated May 16, 2022; the 
map is available in the Office of the City Clerk, and signage and/or markings 
shall be posted clearly delineating the boundaries of the Social District. 

 
(b) The Thomasville Social District shall be created, designated, and managed in 

accordance with the requirements contained in North Carolina General Statute 
160A-205.4 and Chapter 18B. 

 
(c) Any person who violates this Article, and any person who aids, abets, 

encourages, assists in, or contributes to such violation, shall be guilty of a 
misdemeanor with a fine of $25.00. 

 
Sec. 70-161. – Definitions. 

 
(a) “Social district” means and refers to a defined outdoor area in which a citizen 

may consume alcoholic beverages sold by a permittee. This term does not 
include the permittee's licensed premises or an extended area allowed under 
North Carolina General Statute 18B-904(h). 

 
(b) “Permittee” means and refers to a person holding any of the following ABC 

permits issued by the North Carolina Alcoholic Beverage Control Commission 
established under North Carolina General Statute 18B-200.: 

i. An on-premises malt beverage permit issued pursuant to G.S. 18B- 
1001(1). 

ii. An on-premises unfortified wine permit issued pursuant to G.S. 18B- 
1001(3). 

iii. An on-premises fortified wine permit issued pursuant to G.S. 18B- 
1001(5). 

iv. A mixed beverages permit issued pursuant to G.S. 18B-1001(10). 
v. A distillery permit issued pursuant to G.S. 18B-1100(5). 

103



  

 

(c) "Person" means and refers to an individual, firm, partnership, association, 
corporation, limited liability company, other organization or group, or other 
combination of individuals acting as a unit. 

 
(d) "Premises" means and refers to a fixed permanent establishment, including all 

areas inside or outside the permitted establishment, where the permittee has 
control through a lease, deed, or other legal process. 

 
Sec. 70-162. – Application. 

 
(a) The provisions and terms contained in this Article shall be applicable between the 

hours of 11:00 a.m. and 10 p.m., Monday through Sunday. At all other times, the 
provisions and terms contained in this Article are not in effect and all provisions 
of State and local laws concerning the possession and consumption of alcohol 
shall be in full force and effect. 

 
(b) Any alcoholic beverage purchased for consumption in the Thomasville Social 

District shall (i) only be consumed in the Thomasville Social District and (ii) be 
disposed of before the person in possession of the alcoholic beverage exits the 
establishment's outdoor area unless the person is reentering the licensed premises 
where the alcoholic beverage was purchased. A violation of this Section is a 
Class 3 misdemeanor. 

 
Sec. 70-163. – Requirements for Sale of Alcoholic Beverages. - A permittee located in 
or contiguous to the Thomasville Social District may sell alcoholic beverages for 
consumption within the Thomasville Social District it is located in or contiguous to in 
accordance with the following requirements as required by NCGS 18B-904.1(d) 

 
(a) The permittee shall only sell and serve alcoholic beverages on its licensed 

premises. 
 
(b) The permittee shall only sell alcoholic beverages for consumption in the 

Thomasville Social District in a container that meets all of the following 
requirements: 

 
(1) The container clearly identifies the permittee from which the 

alcoholic beverage was purchased. 
 

(2) The container clearly displays a logo or some other mark that is 
unique to the Thomasville Social District. 

 
(3) The container is not comprised of glass. 

 
(4) The container displays, in no less than 12-point font, the statement, 

"Drink Responsibly - Be 21." 

104



 

 

(5) The container shall not hold more than 16 fluid ounces. 
 

(c) The permittee shall not allow a person to enter or reenter its licensed premises 
with an alcoholic beverage not sold by the permittee. 

 
Sec. 70-164. – Requirements for Possession and Consumption of Alcoholic Beverages. - 
The possession and consumption of an alcoholic beverage in the Thomasville Social 
District is subject to all of the following requirements: 

 
(a) Only alcoholic beverages purchased from a permittee located in or contiguous to 

the Thomasville Social District may be possessed and consumed. 
 
(b) Alcoholic beverages shall only be in containers meeting the requirements set forth 

in Section 70-163 of this Article. 
 
(c) Alcoholic beverages shall only be possessed and consumed during the days and 

hours set forth in Section 70-162 of this Article. 
 
(d) Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as authorizing the sale and delivery 

of alcoholic beverage drinks in excess of the limitation set forth in North Carolina 
General Statute 18B-1010. 

 
(e) A person shall dispose of any alcoholic beverage in the person's possession prior 

to exiting the establishment unless the person is reentering the licensed premises 
where the alcoholic beverage was purchased. 

 
(f) A violation of this Section is a Class 3 misdemeanor and shall be subject to a fine of $25.00.   

 
Sec. 70-165. – Exceptions. 

 

When a Special Event is held pursuant to the issuance of a Special Event Permit the 
terms of the Special Event Permit supersede the provisions of this Article within the 
boundaries of the Special Event. Any alcohol purchased within the boundaries of the 
Special Event may not be taken outside of the Special Event, even if the alcohol is to be 
taken from the boundary of the Special Event into the boundary of the Social District. A 
violation of this Section is a Class 3 misdemeanor. 

 
Sec. 70-166. – Severability. 

 
If any section, phrase, sentence or portion of this ordinance is held void, invalid, 
unconstitutional or unenforceable for any reason by any court of competent jurisdiction, 
such portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct, and independent provision; and such 
holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 

 
 

 

105



 

Section 2. This Article shall become effective 90 days from the date of adoption. 
 
Section 3. That all ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this ordinance 
are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

 
 
Upon the motion of member of Council _________________________________, and a second by 
member of Council ___________________________________, the foregoing ordinance was passed 
upon its first reading by a vote of _______________ ____________________. 
    
 
      CITY OF THOMASVILLE 
 
 
       

By: __________________________ 
                                           Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 
 
 
Attest: ______________________________ 
            Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk 
 
 
[SEAL] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

106



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

107



108



 

AN ORDINANCE TO ENACT CHAPTER 70, ARTICLE VII OF THE 
THOMASVILLE CODE OF ORDINANCES: SIDEWALK DINING 

 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF THOMASVILLE: 

 
Chapter 70, Article VII of the Thomasville Code of Ordinances is hereby 

enacted to read as follows: 
 

Section 1: Article VII- SOCIAL DISTRICT SIDEWALK CAFE 
 
Sec. 70-170.   Permit generally.   Notwithstanding any other provision of this Code, the city 
manager or his/her/their designee may issue permits to restaurants as defined herein for the 
serving of food and beverages on city sidewalks and pedestrian ways in the area of the city 
known as the Downtown Sidewalk Cafe District as herein described. 

 

Sec. 70-171.  Definitions.  The following definitions shall apply in this division: 

 
(a)    Downtown sidewalk cafe district. The downtown sidewalk cafe district shall mean 

that part of the City of Thomasville, which is included within and bounded as follows: East and 
West Main Street on the north-side; East and West Main Street on the south-side; Commerce 
Street to Cramer Street on the east; and Mock Street to Trade Street on the west – all being the 
area depicted on the attached Map. 

 
The downtown sidewalk cafe district shall include the sidewalks on both sides of the 

boundary streets to form the district. 
 
(b)  Establishment. An establishment engaged in the business of regularly and 

customarily selling food and or beverages, primarily to be consumed on the premises, including 
businesses that are referred to as restaurants, cafeterias, cafes, lunch stands, grills, snack bars, 
fast food businesses, bars, grills and other establishments, such as drug stores, which have a 
lunch counter or other section where food is sold to be eaten on the premises. 

 
(c)  Pedestrian way. An improved walk or passageway intended for use by 

pedestrians, but not adjacent to any city street. 
 
(d)  Restaurant operator. The person, partnership, limited liability company, firm, or 

corporation operating a restaurant and associated sidewalk cafe. As used in this section, this 
definition includes the owner, and manager if different from the owner, of the restaurant and 
associated sidewalk cafe. 

 
(e)  Sidewalk.  That improved portion of a public street between the curb line or the 

lateral lines of a roadway if there is no curb, and the adjacent property line that is intended for 
the use of pedestrians. 

 
(f)  Street. The entire width between property lines of every way or place of whatever 

109



 

nature, when any part thereof is open to the use of the public as a matter of right for the purpose 
of vehicular traffic.  

 
 

Sec. 70-172. Application.  Any establishment desiring to operate a sidewalk cafe shall prepare 
and file an application with the city manager or their designee which shall contain the following 
information: 

 
(a)  The name, address, and telephone number of the establishment desiring to operate 

a sidewalk cafe. 
 
(b) The name, address, and telephone number of the establishment operator. 
 
(c)  The type of food, beverage, or food product to be sold and served at the sidewalk 

cafe. 
 

(d) The hours of operation of the establishment and the proposed hours of operation 
of the sidewalk cafe. 
 

(e) A scaled site plan showing the section of sidewalk or pedestrian way to be used 
for the sidewalk cafe, the section to be kept clear for pedestrian and fire access, and depicting the 
proposed placement of tables, chairs, barricades, umbrellas, trash receptacles, and other 
structures and furnishings on the sidewalk or pedestrian way. In no case shall a sidewalk café 
violate the provisions of N.C.G.S. 20-174.1. 

 
(f) Proof of an insurance policy, issued by an insurance company licensed to do 

business in the State of North Carolina, protecting the permittee and the city from all claims for 
damages to property and bodily injury, including death, which may arise from operations under 
or in connection with the permit. Such insurance shall name the city as additional insured 
without a municipal exclusion and shall provide that the policy shall not terminate or be canceled 
prior to the expiration date without thirty(30) days advance written notice to the city. Such 
insurance shall afford minimum limits of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000.00) combined 
for property and bodily injury and three hundred thousand dollars ($300,000.00) aggregate 
annually. 

 
(g) A copy of all permits and licenses issued by the county, state or the city, including 

health and ABC permits and business licenses and permits, necessary for the operation of the 
restaurant business, or a copy of the application for the permit if no permit has yet been issued. 

 
(h) Such additional information as may be requested by the city manager or their 

designee to determine the compliance with this section. 
 

Sec. 70-173. Issuance of permit. No permit for the operation of a sidewalk cafe may be issued 
unless the application is complete and the following requirements are met: 

 
(a) The sidewalk cafe must be associated with an operating establishment such that it 

110



 

is under the same management and shares the same food preparation facilities, rest room 
facilities and other customer convenience facilities. The sidewalk cafe must be operated under 
the same name as the associated establishment and may be open or operated only at times when 
the establishment is open for business. 

 
(b)   The operation of the sidewalk cafe must be clearly incidental to the associated 

establishment. The seating capacity of the sidewalk cafe may not be more than fifty (50) percent 
of the interior seating capacity of the associated restaurant. 

 
(c) The placement of tables, chairs, and other furnishings as shown in the drawing 

submitted with the site plan must be done in such manner that at least five (5) feet of 
unobstructed space remains on the sidewalk or pedestrian way for the passage of pedestrians. No 
fire exits, hydrants, FDC or lanes may be blocked and must remain clear at all times. All 
applicable regulations pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act/PROWAG must be met. 

 
(d) The establishment seeking to operate a sidewalk cafe must front on and open onto 

the sidewalk or pedestrian way proposed for use. The placement of tables, chairs and other 
furnishings may extend beyond the frontage of the associated establishment. With the written 
permission of the adjoining property owner and tenant the sidwalk café may extend onto the 
abutting property but may not extend beyond a mid-block crossing, curb cut, alleyway or 
vehicular entrance. 

 
(e) The tables, chairs and other furnishings used in the sidewalk cafe shall not be 

anchored. Sidewalk cafes that require the installation of ramps, railings or structures must meet 
engineering standards appropriate for the intended use. All applicable regulations pursuant to the 
Americans with Disabilities Act/PROWAG must be met. 

 
(f)     Except as elsewhere permitted by the Code, the operation or furnishing of the 

sidewalk cafe shall involve no permanent alteration to any sidewalk or pedestrian way or to the 
exterior of the associated establishment. 

 
(g)     The operation of the sidewalk cafe shall at all times be in accordance with the 

requirements of this Sec. 70-173. At the direction of the city manager or their designee, any 
improperly placed or improperly sized furniture or barricade shall be removed. 

 
(h)    Each sidewalk cafe shall provide adequate trash receptacles for its patrons within 

the perimeters of the barricades. At the end of each business day and during operating hours the 
operator shall remove all trash and debris of any sort from the area within the barricade and 
between it and the curb or travel lane, and in addition shall remove from the sidewalk alongside 
and abutting properties any trash or debris originating as a result of the operation of the sidewalk 
cafe. 
 

Sec. 70-174. Alcoholic beverages. Notwithstanding any other provisions of the City Code, 
alcoholic beverages may be served at sidewalk cafes provided the requirements of Chapter 70, 
Article VI - Social District - are met. 

 

111



 

Sec. 70-175. Denial. A permit may be denied if it is found that the granting of the permit 
would not be in the public interest. Any applicant denied a permit to operate a sidewalk cafe shall 
receive a written statement, outlining the grounds on which the denial is based. 
 

  The applicant may appeal the denial of the permit to the city council within fifteen (15) 
working days after the date of the written denial and the city council may take such action as it 
shall find necessary. The findings and determination of the city council shall be final. 

 
Sec. 70-176. Permit revocation. The city manager may revoke a permit issued pursuant to this 
section, if they find that the establishment operator has: 

 
(a)   Deliberately misrepresented or provided false information in the permit 

application. 
 
(b)   Violated any law, regulation, or ordinance regarding the possession, sale, 

transportation or consumption of intoxicating beverages or controlled substances. 
 

(c)   Operated the sidewalk cafe in such a manner as to create a public nuisance or to 
constitute a hazard to the public health, safety, or welfare; including failure to keep the street or 
sidewalk cafe area clean and free of refuse and trash. 

 
(d)   Failed to maintain any health, business, ABC, or other permit or license required 

by law. 
 
(e)    Operated the restaurant or sidewalk cafe in violation of this division or of any 

city, county, state, or federal law, ordinance, or regulation. 
 
(f)   Failure to maintain required ADA pedestrian access free from obstructions. 

 
Before the revocation of a permit, the city manager or their designee shall notify the 

permit holder of the intent to revoke the permit in writing and the reasons therefor and shall 
afford the permit holder a reasonable opportunity to appear and be heard on the question of such 
revocation. After the hearing, the city manager or their designee shall notify the permit holder in 
writing of this decision and the reasons therefor. A decision to revoke a permit may be appealed 
to the city council within fifteen (15) working days in accordance with the provisions of Sec. 70-
175. 

 
Sec. 70-177.  Reservation of rights. The city reserves the right to require any sidewalk cafe 
established pursuant to this article to cease part or all of its operation in order to allow for 
construction, maintenance, or repair of any sidewalk, utility, or public building by the city, its 
agents, or employees, or by any other governmental entity or public utility. 

 
Sec. 70-178.  Term transfer, renewal. Permits issued in accordance with the provisions of this 
section shall: 
 

(a)   Be issued for a period of two (2) years beginning on the first day of the month 

112



 

following the date of issuance. 
 
(b)   Be in addition to any other permit required pursuant to this Code. 
 
(c)   Not be transferable or assignable, to include when the business or property is sold 

and the new owner or tenant operates a similar establishment. 
 
(d)   Renewal of the permit must be requested thirty (30) days prior to expiration. 

Renewals will be issued for a period of two (2) years. 
 

 

Section 2. This Article shall become effective 30 days from the date of adoption. 
 
Section 3. That all ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this ordinance are hereby 
repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 
 
Upon the motion of member of Council _________________________________, and a second 
by member of Council ___________________________________, the foregoing ordinance was 
passed upon its first reading by a vote of _______________ ____________________. 
    
 
      CITY OF THOMASVILLE 
 
 
       

By: __________________________ 
                                           Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 
 
 
Attest: ______________________________ 
            Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk 
 
 
[SEAL] 

113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



 
 CITY OF THOMASVILLE, NORTH CAROLINA 

FRANCHISE TO OPERATE A TRANSPORTATION SERVICE 
 

JANET BARCLAY DBA EXPRESS CAB 
 
 BE IT REMEMBERED that the Thomasville City Council, at meetings 
duly convened on May 16, 2022 and June 20, 2022, authorized the renewal 
of the taxi franchise to Janet Barclay DBA Express Cab (hereinafter called 
GRANTEE) to operate a transportation service on the streets, alleys and 
public ways within the Thomasville City limits for transporting passengers 
and their baggage for hire. Effective date shall begin on the acceptance 
date by GRANTEE.  Franchise expires July 1, 2023. 
 
 GRANTEE shall operate such service in accordance with and under 
the provisions of Chapter 86 of the Thomasville City Code, as amended, the 
City Charter and all City ordinances which pertain to the operations of 
Grantee’s business and the laws of the State of North Carolina under this 
franchise. 
 
 The granting of this franchise shall in no way imply that said 
franchise is exclusive; and the City reserves the right at any time to grant 
additional franchises to qualified applicants if and when the City Council 
shall determine that the public convenience and necessity would best be 
served by such additional franchise or franchises. 
 
 Within ten days following the date hereof, the GRANTEE shall in 
writing hereon indicate his acceptance of this franchise and his agreement 
to the terms and provisions hereof, and agrees to operate said 
transportation service in compliance with the terms and conditions thereof. 
 
 This the 20th day of June, 2022. 
 
 
 
       __________________________ 
       Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 
 

 
__________________________ 
Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk 

 
 

 

140



GRANTEE’S ACCEPTANCE 
 
 

 Janet Barclay DBA Express Cab hereby accepts the foregoing 
franchise and agrees to operate its transportation service in accordance 
with the terms and provisions of said franchise, including the provisions of 
Chapter 86 of the Thomasville City Code, the Thomasville City Charter, all 
other City Ordinances pertaining to Grantee’s business and the Laws of the 
State of North Carolina. 
 
 This the _____ day of June, 2022. 
 
 
 
      Janet Barclay DBA Express Cab 
 
 
 
      _________________________(SEAL) 
      Janet Barclay, Owner 

 

141



142



143



144



145



146



147


	05-16-22 Council Meeting Packet - with links
	05-16-22 Council Meeting Agenda
	05-09-22 Briefing Packet
	Budget Message Final 2022
	Budget Summary Combined 2022
	governing body Department FY23
	Administration Department FY23
	Finance summary FY23
	HR Department FY23
	MIS summary FY23
	Planning Department FY23
	City Hall Department FY23
	PD budget summary FY23
	Fire Budget summary FY23
	Inspection Department FY23
	Engineering Department FY23
	Public Works summary FY23
	Radio summary FY23
	Recreation FY23
	non-departmental summary FY23
	WS budget summary FY23
	Billing and Collections summary FY23
	ws non-departmental summary FY23
	Golf summary FY23
	other funds summary FY23

	Thomasville Social District Ordinance rev 1 Article VI
	Downtown Social District correct map
	Social District Sidewalk Cafe Ordinance - Article VII
	Sec. 70-170.   Permit generally.   Notwithstanding any other provision of this Code, the city manager or his/her/their designee may issue permits to restaurants as defined herein for the serving of food and beverages on city sidewalks and pedestrian w...
	Sec. 70-171.  Definitions.  The following definitions shall apply in this division:

	05-09-22 Briefing Packet

	05-16-22 Council Meeting Packet - with links
	SAdministra22051310060
	05-16-22 Council Meeting Packet - with links
	SAdministra22051310060
	05-16-22 Council Meeting Packet - with links
	05-09-22 Briefing Packet

	Express Taxi - Taxi Franchise 2022
	GRANTEE’S ACCEPTANCE




